INFORMATION

# RIBBLE VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL REPORT TO HEALTH & HOUSING COMMITTEE

Agenda Item No. 11

meeting date:THURSDAY, 17 JANUARY 2019title:LCC HOUSING WITH CARE & SUPPORT STRATEGY 2018 – 2025submitted by:DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNINGprincipal author:RACHAEL STOTT, HOUSING STRATEGY OFFICER

#### 1 PURPOSE

- 1.1 To inform members that Lancashire County Council has produced Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-2025 and the document is currently out for consultation.
- 1.2 Relevance to the Council's ambitions and priorities:
  - Community Objectives To address the housing needs of older persons and households in need of support.
  - Corporate Priorities To be a well-managed Council.
  - Other Considerations None.

#### 2 BACKGROUND

2.1 Ribble Valley Borough Council have been invited to take part in the consultation of the draft Lancashire County Council Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-2025, which will be a key document to assist the development of new housing and support options for adults. The document has just been released in draft and was presented at a Housing Care & Support meeting at County Hall on 12 December. The strategy was presented with a number of other presentations from the NHS evidencing the impact of housing on health. These additional presentations can also be shared with members.

What is meant by Housing with Care and Support:

- Housing that is designed and built to meet the care and support needs that people might have now or in the future.
- For older adults it means new Extra Care schemes normally including at least 60 homes.
- For younger adults with disabilities it means new Flat Schemes usually incorporating around 12 homes.

The document is attached at Appendix 1 and the consultation period is open till 31 January 2019 for comments. As part of the launch Homes England were supportive of the strategy and presented the funding models available for the development of specialist housing. Chorley BC demonstrated the 60 bed extra care scheme they are developing with grant from Homes England.

#### 3 ISSUES

3.1 There is an under provision of units in Lancashire when compared to other districts. Provisions of extra care schemes can be demonstrated to save considerable costs when compared to living in residential care. The delivery of schemes has seen a slow down since the cut backs in supporting people funding and the lack of available revenue funding for the support element.

- 3.2 The draft document proposes the development of an extra care scheme in the borough and in every borough in Lancashire; also a shift in the model for adult with learning difficulties.
- 4 RISK ASSESSMENT
- 4.1 The approval of this report may have the following implications:
  - Resources Capital grant is available for the development of schemes.
  - Technical, Environmental and Legal The revenue funding of schemes has been the issue with any potential schemes in the borough.
  - Political Further investigation and possibly a visit to the scheme in Chorley for more detailed discussion around the provision.
  - Reputation Addressing older persons housing needs is a priority for the Council and an important consideration is widening the housing options
  - Equality & Diversity Housing options to enable people to continue to live independently are a priority for our aging population.

#### 5 CONCLUSION

5.1 A response to the draft will be sent through to Lancashire County Council once the question over the revenue costs of a scheme is addressed. Should any members wish to add comments please send them in before 20<sup>th</sup> January 2019.

RACHAEL STOTT HOUSING STRATEGY OFFICER NICOLA HOPKINS DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & PLANNING

#### BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

For further information please ask for Rachael Stott, extension 3235.

REF: RS/CMS/H&H/170119



# Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018 – 2025



www.lancashire.gov.uk

# Contents

1.	Summary of key messages	
2.	About this strategy	03
3.	Setting the scene	03
	3.1 What we mean by Housing with Care and Support	03
	3.2 Policy context and partnership working	04
	3.3 Where are we now and why we need to change	06
	3.4 Where we want to get to	08
4.	Needs assessment for Housing with Care and Support	09
5.	The financial case for Housing with Care and Support	11
6.	Creating new Housing with Care and Support	11
7.	The care and support model	13
8.	Acknowledgements	13

Appendix A: Glossary

# 1.0 Summary of key messages

- Housing with Care and Support is purpose built or adapted housing with a range of tenures and the availability of up to 24/7 care and support.
- We are seeking an open and collaborative relationship with partners and the public to deliver this strategy.
- We want to work with our partners to develop a range of high quality housing that can better meet people's care and support needs and to promote their health, wellbeing and independence.
- We need to reduce our reliance on residential care by ensuring alternative options are available to help us manage the growing demand and financial pressures.
- We are aiming to have at least one Extra Care scheme for older adults in each district and about 1,000 homes by 2025.
- We are aiming to have more smaller-scale Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities.
- We want to benefit the wider housing market through regeneration and releasing family housing.
- There are clear opportunities for existing and new providers to develop Housing with Care and Support options across Lancashire.

# 2.0 About this strategy

It is recognised that most people who have care and support needs now, or who may develop care and support needs in the future, wish to be supported in their own home or move to a home that can better meet their needs, instead of moving into a residential care home.

Our ambition is to work with our key partners to develop a range of high quality Housing with Care and Support schemes across Lancashire by 2025 for both older adults and younger adults with disabilities. This will enable many more people to remain safe and independent in a suitable home environment that connects them to other people, their community and services they need or might need in the future.

The strategy is aimed at:

- People who already use services and their carers
- People planning their future housing and care and support needs
- Our key partners, including district councils, the NHS and potential providers
- Elected members, other partners, local communities and neighbourhoods.

This strategy reflects the principles and vision outlined in Lancashire's Extra Care Strategy 2014<sup>1</sup>, but seeks to provide a summarised document which will be accessible to and used for engaging a wider audience as part of a collaborative approach in developing Housing with Care and Support.

## 3.0 Setting the scene

#### 3.1 What we mean by Housing with Care and Support

Housing with Care and Support is accommodation which has been designed, built or adapted to facilitate the care and support needs that its tenants or owners may have now or in the future.

For older adults, Housing with Care and Support means Extra Care schemes with each new scheme normally including a minimum of 60 homes. For younger adults with disabilities, it means new Flat Schemes with each scheme usually incorporating around 12 homes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Available at: <u>http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/mglssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=27888</u>

Housing with Care and Support schemes will or may, depending on whether a scheme is an Extra Care scheme for older adults or Flat Scheme for younger adults with disabilities, share the following characteristics:

Characteristic	Extra Care Schemes for Older Adults	Flat Schemes for Younger Adults
Self-contained one or two bedroom apartments or bungalows as part of a wider scheme	Yes	Yes
Available to people with eligible care needs under the Care Act	Yes	Yes
Available to people with no eligible care needs under the Care Act	Yes	No
Unplanned care available to meet urgent care needs	Yes	Yes
24/7 onsite care team to provide a response to unplanned or urgent care needs	Yes	Maybe
Planned care for those with eligible needs and outcomes under the Care Act	Yes	Yes
Communal facilities for activities to promote social inclusion and wellbeing.	Yes	Maybe
People will be tenants or owner-occupiers responsible for their housing and living costs.	Yes	Yes
Provision of respite care or intermediate care services	Maybe	Maybe
Equipped with assistive technology to promote independence and meet needs	Yes	Yes
A community hub providing a base for activities, facilities and services for the local community	Yes	Maybe
Links to volunteering, employment, training or leisure opportunities	Yes	Yes

#### 3.2 Policy context and partnership working

The current Lancashire Health and Wellbeing Strategy<sup>2</sup>, developed by Lancashire's Health and Wellbeing Board, includes important points that directly relate to this strategy and developing Housing with Care and Support, such as:

• The need for better collaboration by partners to have a greater impact on people's health and wellbeing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at: <u>http://council.lancashire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=825&MId=6649&Ver=4</u>

- The importance of working with service users, communities, planners, developers, housing authorities, landlords and health services to improve the design, quality and availability of suitable housing
- The role that district councils play in providing services that make a significant contribution to people's physical and mental health
- The "triple aim" of improving outcomes, enhancing quality of life and reducing costs
- The rising proportion of people living alone putting more people at risk of social isolation, particularly in later life
- That many of the causes of poor health in Lancashire are preventable with improved living conditions, social relationships and support, healthier behaviours and better quality health and social care services
- Moving resources towards interventions that prevent ill-health and promote wellbeing, reduce demand for hospital and residential services and prolong quality of life
- Building and utilising the assets, skills and resources of our citizens and communities
- Promoting self-care, reducing social isolation and loneliness; placed based integration of services and supporting independent living.

Housing with Care and Support is also an effective means of the county council meeting its duties under the Care Act 2014<sup>3</sup>. From a national perspective, the Care Act places a duty on local authorities to cooperate with partners to ensure that care and support is delivered in an integrated way.

The Care Act is clear that housing is a health and social care related service as it plays a vital role in supporting people to maintain good health, independence and improve quality of life. Housing with Care and Support plays an important part in helping the county council to meet its duties under the Care Act in terms of:

- Promoting wellbeing the Act makes reference to suitable accommodation for adults as part of the duty of promoting wellbeing, and the concept of 'independent living' as a core part of the wellbeing principle.
- Prevention the Act states that housing must be considered as part of an assessment process that may prevent, reduce or delay adults' social care needs, and that care and support should be delivered in an integrated way, in cooperation with partner bodies, including housing.
- Provision of choice the Act requires local authorities to ensure that sufficient services are available to meet the needs for care and support of adults and carers. It also requires that a diverse and efficient market with a 'variety of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Care and Support Statutory Guidance available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance

high quality services to choose from' exists. Increasing the availability of Housing with Care and Support will enable people to have the choice of housing that is more suited to their needs.

#### 3.3 Where we are now and why we need to change

#### **Older Adults**

There are currently two purpose built Extra Care schemes in Lancashire, located in Ormskirk and Whitworth, and three schemes are under development in Chorley, Preston and Wyre.

There are also a number of sheltered schemes with a 24 hour care team based on site. We are currently consulting on the future of some of those schemes.

However, we still rely too much on the use of traditional models of residential care, but we want to help people maximise their independence through the accommodation in which they live where at all possible.

#### Key facts

- In June 2018, we were supporting 3,214 older adults in long-term residential care at an average gross weekly cost of £515 per person, and 1,077 older adults in nursing care at an average gross weekly cost of £745 per person.
- In 2016/17, the number of council-supported long-term admissions to residential or nursing care homes per 100,000 population was 742 in Lancashire higher than both the shire counties average of 560 and the England average of 611.

N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire

We need to reduce our reliance on residential care, as we know the majority of people would rather stay in a home of their own and have choice and control over their care and support needs. We also need to develop new models of care to help us meet the growing demand for services and to put the funding of care and support on a financially sustainable footing.

#### Key facts

Predicted changes to the older adults (aged 65 or over) population of Lancashire by 2025 (from 2017):

- 34,300 or 14% increase in the number of older adults
- 20,649 or 25% increase in the number of people with dementia
- 21,502 or 17% increase in the number of people with a limiting long-term illness

• 16,365 or 19% increase in the number of people living alone.

N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire

#### Younger adults with disabilities

Current supply of Housing with Care and Support is not equitable across Lancashire – there are too many properties for shared households and not enough modern Flat Schemes which is restricting choice.

Shared households provision has been in existence for decades and, whilst this still represents one of the best ways of supporting some people, there is a need to offer more Flat Schemes. This is because many people expect to be able to live in their own self-contained accommodation with their own front door.

There is also a need to shift to a model of Housing with Care and Support which is more financially sustainable and enables opportunities for improved independent living. This includes an alternative to residential care settings, which can easily lead to a home for life, institutionalisation and create dependency unnecessarily.

There are people currently living in residential care who may want to progress to be more independent in a community setting, but there is a lack of availability of suitable accommodation, such as Flat Schemes.

#### Key facts

- There are approximately 1,500 people with learning disabilities and/or autism living in more than 700 shared households at an average gross weekly cost of over £850 per person.
- There are 185 people with mental health needs in shared households or Flat Schemes.
- In June 2018, we were supporting over 257 adults with learning disabilities and autism in long-term residential care at an average gross weekly cost of £1,321 per person.
- In June 2018, we were supporting 289 adults with mental health needs in residential care, which is very high when compared to other councils, at an average gross weekly cost of £966 per person.

N.B. There is variation in the profile at a district level in Lancashire

#### 3.4 Where we want to get to

#### Vision

By working with our partners to develop innovative Housing with Care and Support options so more people have choice about where they live and receive care and support, are supported to live independently and have a better quality of life.

#### Strategic aims

- To have at least one Extra Care scheme for older adults in each district and about 1,000 homes by 2025
- To reduce the number of shared houses and increase the number of Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities
- To improve the Housing with Care and Support options for people with complex needs and conditions
- To provide a home for life and a viable and genuine alternative to residential care settings
- To provide ongoing care and support which delivers cost savings to the health and care system
- To provide a wider community resource and facilities to connect and benefit local residents
- To benefit the wider housing market through regeneration and releasing family housing

#### A measure of success will be if service users say:

- I have maintained or improved my independence, health and quality of life
- I can make informed decisions and I am empowered by having choice and control
- I am treated with dignity and respect and I have privacy when I want it
- I am safeguarded and protected from harm and abuse
- I feel safe and secure and my home is well maintained and looked after
- I feel part of my community and I am able to maintain or develop relationships.

With the ageing population and the increased complexity of people's needs there is a growing demand for care and support, which contributes to the financial challenges all councils are facing. Consequently, it is vital that people's independence is maximised to enable a more sustainable health, care and housing system.

This means ensuring that people have access to the right care, in the right place at the right time, so they can be supported effectively with an appropriate level of service to meet their needs now and in the future.

It also means acting early, helping people retain or regain their skills and confidence, and preventing, reducing or delaying the need for care and support. For example, by supporting more people in Housing with Care and Support instead of residential care, as shown in this continuum of services diagram:



# 4.0 Needs assessment for Housing with Care and Support

### Extra Care for Older Adults

Nationally, the current average level of provision equates to 15 units per 1,000 people aged 75 or over<sup>4</sup>. As there are only two purpose built schemes in Lancashire and three in development, there appears to be a significant under provision of Extra Care schemes when we compare Lancashire to other areas.

The indicative figures shown below demonstrate the potential need for Housing with Care and Support for older people in Lancashire based on 15 units per 1,000 people aged 75 or over<sup>5</sup>. However, any developers intending to enter the Housing with Care and Support market are advised to undertake their own assessment of the need for Housing with Care and Support in the proposed development area.

District	Estimated no. of units needed	No. of units in existence or development
Burnley	134	0
Chorley	206	65
Fylde	194	0
Hyndburn	123	0
Lancaster	238	0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This methodology has been used following advice obtained from a consultant at The Housing Learning and Improvement Network

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Based on projected population of people aged 75 or over by district in 2025

Pendle	138	0
Preston	165	60
Ribble Valley	125	0
Rossendale	107	42
South Ribble	204	0
West Lancashire	217	111
Wyre	265	72
Total	2,117	350

There are 13 sheltered based Extra Care schemes not included in the above table. We are currently consulting on the future of some of these schemes, which means they may not all be classified as Extra Care in the future.

The estimated potential demand of 2,117 Extra Care units is much higher than the approximate 1,000 units being proposed in this strategy. This is because we want to:

- set an ambitious target whilst at the same being realistic about what can be delivered during the lifetime of this strategy, and
- evaluate the actual impact and get a better understanding of future demand prior to any further expansion.

#### Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities

There is too much reliance on shared housing with over 700 properties across Lancashire.

There is a clear need for more Flat Schemes to modernise the offer of Housing with Care and Support and provide additional choice. A strategic review of accommodation will be undertaken which will identify gaps in provision across the county.

From this a specification will be produced, listing key requirements for Flat Schemes with regard to factors such a size and location.

This will lead to the remodelling of some existing Flat Schemes and enabling them to realise their full potential, in addition to having an open dialogue with district councils and housing developers to identify suitable sites for new build schemes.

# 5.0 The financial case for Housing with Care and Support

#### Extra Care for older adults

A recent evaluation of potential revenue savings to the county council, based on our financial modelling tool, suggests an average weekly saving of around £100 per person for those individuals who would otherwise have been living in residential care. However, as people living in Extra Care will have a range of needs, weekly care costs are likely to be an average of £33 per person less expensive when compared to other settings. These figures assume no capital investment in the scheme by the county council.

#### Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities

There will be a slightly different model of support for new Flat Schemes based on an equal contribution from all people who use the service to the background day and/or night support. Evidence from another council of implementing this model in Flat Schemes has realised average weekly savings of £295 per person for people moving from shared housing and £600 per person for people moving from residential care.

Background costs will vary dependent on size of the scheme but are estimated to be around £200 per week and individuals would then have additional staff hours for dedicated one to one support, dependent on their level of need. There will be economies of scale when compared to shared housing. This is because Flat Schemes will support more people with similar levels of background support.

The county council is not expecting to make any capital contribution to development costs or to pay for any vacancies within schemes.

# 6.0 Creating new Housing with Care and Support

A Housing with Care and Support development programme can only deliver to its full potential with strong partnership working between the county council, district councils, NHS clinical commissioning groups, service users, communities, providers and landlords. With the integration of health and social care moving forward and housing provision sitting with district councils, strong partnerships will deliver the best financial benefits and best outcomes for our older adults and younger adults with disabilities and all of the organisations concerned.

There is potential to co-locate other appropriate services within Housing with Care and Support developments, such as other public services, and to use Housing with Care and Support to promote regeneration.

There is a need to attract a range of housing landlords and developers to provide options for individuals, of all income levels, living in all areas of Lancashire, but especially for those from social, affordable and private rented sectors and home owners in lower value homes.

We are seeking to adopt an approach which is flexible and able to respond to the circumstances of the local community and different funding and support requirements, thereby enabling us to determine our contribution according to what can be achieved with other partners including district councils, the NHS, developers and registered housing providers.

We are aiming to deliver the new Housing with Care and Support schemes without the county council making a capital contribution. However, we may be prepared to contribute resources in the form of land, where this would be required to make the scheme financially viable, or in exceptional circumstances to make a financial contribution where there is a strategic need for a service which could not proceed without a county council capital contribution.

Consequently, we will develop a county-wide Housing with Care and Support delivery plan in partnership with the district councils and other key stakeholders that is sufficiently flexible to deal with local needs. Housing providers, developers and potential private investors will be engaged in the discussions about what new developments, or remodelling of existing stock, is possible. This will include agreeing a set of design principles for homes for life long living which provide a selection of minimum standards which aid improvement or maintenance of health and wellbeing.

In order to support a county-wide Housing with Care and Support delivery plan, we will need to develop and maintain clear pathways into all types of accommodation with care and support. For Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities and specifically people with a learning disability and/or autism, partners will need to have regard to the relevant principles and values of *Building the Right Support*<sup>6</sup> and the accompanying service model and guidance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Available at: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/learning-disabilities/natplan/</u>

# 7.0 The care and support model

#### Core care and support

Each scheme will provide access to a core onsite emergency or unplanned personal care available to everyone, which will also give people peace of mind. It will always be available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week in Extra Care for older adults.

For Flat Schemes for younger adults with disabilities, the core support will be provided in the form of shared background support. This may or may not be required onsite on a 24/7 basis, as it would be determined on scheme-by-scheme basis depending on the needs of the people living in a particular scheme.

The core service may include other elements of support, for example to promote social activities and relationships.

#### Personalised care and support

People who meet the national eligibility threshold under the Care Act 2014 will receive a personal budget to meet their planned personalised care needs from the onsite care provider, or may choose to receive services from a different care provider. Planned care will always be person-centred; focus on the individual's needs and outcomes; and promote their independence, health and wellbeing.

#### Other care and support

Assistive technology, such as telecare, will be used in all schemes to promote independence and help meet people's needs and outcomes, particularly where a physical presence may not be needed at times during the day or night.

On a scheme-by-scheme basis, and depending on local needs and services, the county council with its partners may explore the possibility of using a particular scheme to provide:

- Respite care to give carers a short break and/or intermediate care to help people avoid going into hospital or residential care unnecessarily, or to help people recover following a hospital stay
- A hub for providing services into the local community, such as home care services where availability of home care in the local area is a challenge, or health and wellbeing promotion programmes.

#### 8.0 Acknowledgements